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SUMMARY

The Alva Consolidated Schools are the original Junior High and High School buildings in Alva, an 
unincorporated community located in northeastern Lee County. The buildings are located next to each other at 
21219 North River Road and are found on a campus that also includes three modern school buildings. The First 
Alva Junior High School is a two-story, red brick building constructed in 1914. It has a rectangular plan and a 
low-pitched hip roof surfaced with composition shingles. The First Alva High School is a two-story 
Mediterranean Revival style building erected in 1927. The school is constructed of stuccoed hollow clay tile and 
consists of a two story main unit, two one-story facade additions, and a one-story auditorium extension at the 
rear of the building. Both buildings are now used for school offices and special education-related purposes.

SETTING

Alva is an unincorporated community located on the north bank of the Caloosahatchee River in 
northeastern Lee County. It is among the oldest communities in the county and has retained much of its historic 
appearance. The town is accessed from State Road 80 by a historic draw bridge that spans the Caloosahatchee 
River and leads to Broadway, Alva's primary business street. The school property is located at the northern end 
of Broadway. The Alva School complex is bounded by Julia Street on the east, North River Road on the south, 
Church Street on the west, and Park Street on the north. Low density residential areas with houses dating from 
c. 1910 to c. 1960 adjoin the property on the south, east, and west. An area of undeveloped land extends north 
of the playing fields on the northern half of the school property. The historic school buildings are located in the 
southwestern quarter of the property (photos 1 and 2). They are bounded on the north and east by permanent 
school buildings that were added to the property between 1975 and the present.

PRESENT AND ORIGINAL APPEARANCE

First Alva Junior High School

Exterior

Main Facade

The first Alva Junior High School was constructed in 1914. It is a two-story vernacular building with a 
rectangular plan and a low-pitched hip roof that is surfaced with composition shingles. The structural system is 
brick set in common bond. A smooth stucco skirt runs around the perimeter of the building below the sills of the 
first floor windows. The main (south) facade of the building is symmetrical and consists of three major bays
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(photo 3). The central bay of the first story has a single, wood and glass door with sidelights and a transom. 
The entrance is sheltered by a gabled hood roof supported by triangular wood brackets. In the second story 
above the entrance, the central bay contains a rectangular, 6/6-light, window flanked by two smaller 4/4-light 
windows. The two outer bays of the facade are identical on both stories, consisting of bands of five 6/6-light 
windows. Uniting the windows on each story is a continuous masonry drip molding. The outer bays are visually 
separated from the central bay by wide, shallow pilasters that extend from the water table of the concrete 
foundation to the soffit of the hip roof. Similar pilasters are found at the outer corners of the facade.

West and East Elevations

The west and east sides of the building are divided into three bays (photos 4 and 5). The lower story of 
both elevations has two groups of three 6/6-light windows that flank a wide expanse of plain brick wall. On the 
second story the central bay is occupied two doors that lead onto a metal fire escape. On outer sides of the 
doors are a pair of 6/6-light windows.

Rear (North Elevation)

The rear (north) elevation of the building is similar in appearance to the facade (photo 6), except that the 
main entrance lacks the gabled hood porch. The central entranceway has a single panel wood and glass door that 
has a transom but no sidelights. The entrance is sheltered by a concrete, covered walkway that leads to the other 
school buildings on the campus. The outer bays or wings are identical in appearance to those found on the main 
facade.

Exterior alterations

The most prominent alteration to the original exterior appearance of the building was the replacement of 
all the original windows and doors with modern energy efficient models in 1994. The pane configuration of the 
replacement, aluminum frame windows, however, matches that of the original windows in size and style. The 
wide soffit of the roof has been covered with vinyl siding.

Interior

Most of the interior spaces of the building are intact. In its original configuration, the building contained 
six classrooms, a 300-seat auditorium, and a library. The auditorium was subdivided to provide two additional 
classrooms in 1926. The first floor has a central hall that extends the width of the building (photo 7). On the 
second floor the hall extends only to the center of the building. Three classrooms, the school office, and
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restrooms are found on the first floor. A stairway leading to the second floor is located at the rear of the hall 
(photos 8-10 and 13). The stairway to the second floor has its original balustrade and newel posts (photo 11). It 
leads to a landing through which all of the second floor classrooms are accessed (photo 12).

Interior alterations

The interior has been altered by application of modern wood paneling on all of the wall surfaces. The 
original ceilings are obscured by hanging metal frame and fiber board ceilings that were installed to provide room 
for ducts for a modern heating and cooling system and more efficient lighting fixtures.

First Alva High School 

Exterior

The First Alva High School is a two-story Mediterranean Revival style building. It consists of a two 
story main unit with two-story wings, two one-story facade additions, a one-story auditorium extension, and a 
one-story rear addition. The walls of the original portions of the building are constructed of hollow clay tile 
covered with smooth stucco. The additions are constructed of concrete block and have been stuccoed to match 
the walls of the original building.

Main (South) Facade

The main block of the building projects southward from the wing extensions (photo 14). It has a stepped 
gable parapet with masonry coping. A decorative terra-cotta escutcheon is located in the center of the facade 
above the second story windows. Two diamond-shaped ceramic tile decorations are located at the corners of the 
facade just below the parapet. The facade of the main unit is divided into three major bays. The central bay 
consists of a triple arch entranceway with recessed doors that have fanlights and sidelights (photo 15). The 
arches are supported by decorative spiral columns. The second story features a group of three 1/9-light windows 
in front of which is a wrought iron balconette. The central unit is flanked by two, one-story flat roof additions, 
which were constructed in 1951. Set to the rear of the central section of the school are original two story wings. 
The wings have decorative framed panels on their south elevations.

West Elevation

The west elevation of the west wing of the building exhibits a ribbon of seven 1/9-light windows in both 
stories (photo 16). The window banks are framed by masonry sills and lintels. The rear of the west wing
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contains entrances that lead to the first and second floor halls. A modern metal stair case leads to the second 
floor entrance. The west wall of the one-story auditorium extends north from the west wing. The auditorium 
contains two sets of paired windows, an entrance, and a single enclosed window at the northwest corner. A one- 
story flat roof concrete block addition is attached to the north wall of the auditorium (photo 17).

North (Rear) Elevation

The primary features of the rear elevation of the building are two entrances that lead to rooms to the rear 
flat roof addition (photo 18). The easternmost entrance contains a pair of modern metal doors. The western 
entrance is recessed in a rectangular opening.

East Elevation

The east side of the school is similar in configuration to the west side, with the exception of an enclosed 
stairwell located at the junction of the auditorium extension and east wing (photos 19 and 20).

Exterior alterations

The most prominent alteration to the exterior of the building was the replacement of all the original 
windows and doors with modern energy efficient models in 1994. The pane configuration on the replacement 
windows, however, matches the original windows in style and size. A concrete block addition was placed on the 
rear of the auditorium in 1952. Since World War II, Alva School campus has undergone several changes. In 
1951 two classroom additions were constructed on the facade of the high school building. The following year a 
concrete block addition was attached to the rear of the auditorium and used as a cafeteria.

Interior
/

The interior of the building has been substantially altered in recent years. In its original configuration, the 
building's major interior spaces included six classrooms—four on the first floor and two on the second—a large 
auditorium, administration offices, and bathrooms. After a new middle school building was completed in the 
early 1990s, the first floor classrooms of the 1927 school were subdivided into offices spaces (photos 21-22). 
The west classrooms were divided for administrative offices, and the east wing was converted for use as a clinic 
and guidance offices. At the same time, the auditorium, which had previously been used as classroom space, was 
restored to its original dimensions (photo 23). It features the original stage at the north end and seating for 
about 150 people. The second floor is accessed by a stairwell located at the southeastern corner of the 
auditorium (photo 24). The rooms of the second floor retain their historic period configuration and exhibit
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original pine moldings and baseboards. In addition to the subdivision of the rooms of the first floor, the interior 
ceilings have been dropped to make room for electrical and air conditioning ducts and all of the interior doors 
have been replaced.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE 

SUMMARY

The Alva Consolidated Schools are eligible for listing in the National Register of Historic Places under 
Criteria A and C at the local level in the areas of education and architecture. The original Alva Junior High 
School was constructed in 1914 and was the first permanent masonry school building erected in Lee County 
outside of Fort Myers. The Alva High School was built in 1927 as part of a county-wide campaign to improve 
school facilities during the Florida land boom period. In the area of architecture, the buildings possess 
significance as examples of early twentieth century school design. Their architectural designs reflect the stylistic 
preferences of the periods in which they were constructed. The buildings contribute to the Historic Resources of 
Lee County multiple property group under historic context V, Historic Development of the Lee County 
School System, 1887-1950 and property type F.3 Educational Buildings.

DEVELOPMENT OF THE ALVA SCHOOLS

Located in northeastern Lee County on the north bank of the Caloosahatchee River, the unincorporated 
community of Alva was one of the first settled areas in the county. Alva was established on a 160 acre 
homestead purchased by Danish immigrant Captain Peter Nelson in 1883. In 1892 Nelson platted a town site 
that consisted of a 100 foot wide main street and several narrower intersecting side streets. He reserved land for 
schools, churches, and two parks. By the beginning of the twentieth century, Alva has become the county's 
leading center for citrus cultivation. The Alva Citrus Growers Association was formed in 1910 and, by 1919, 
one-third of the county's citrus was produced within a five mile radius of the community. By the beginning of 
the second decade of the new century, the town contained a small commercial district, a hotel, several churches, 
a library, a post office, and a number of residences. 1

The first school in Alva occupied a building erected on land donated by Peter Nelson in 1884. This small 
wood frame building served the community until a new and larger building was constructed in 1895. This second 
school was located on property that Nelson had deeded to the Lee County Board of Public Instruction in 1893. 
The building contained one large classroom and was used for the instruction of all grades. Another small school 
was opened in 1893 in a small building located on the south side of the Caloosahatchee River, in what was then 
known as South Alva. This school closed in 1904 when a wing was added to the 1895 building, which became 
the Alva Consolidated School.2

^orida Preservation Services, "Lee County Historic Sites Survey," (Report prepared for the Lee County Planning 
Department, December, 1986) 64.

2Donald O. Stone and Beth W. Carter, The First 100 Years: Lee County Public Schools. 1887-1987 (Fort Myers, Florida:
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By 1913 this school had become overcrowded and dilapidated. In November, members of the community 
appeared before the LBPI to ask permission to hold an election for approval of a $15,000 bond issue to raise 
money for the construction of a new school. It was the first such action in Lee County taken under the Board's 
offer to supply teachers for school districts who voted to levy taxes for the construction of new schools in their 
jurisdiction. The election was held on December 12, 1913, and the issue passed by a vote of twenty-seven to 
seventeen.3

In January 1914, Tampa architect W.L. Redditt submitted plans for the erection of a two-story brick 
building with six classrooms, a library, and a 300-seat auditorium. The existing school property was deemed an 
inappropriate site for the new school, because it was located on land near the Caloosahatchee River that was 
prone to flooding. Another site in Alva was approved by the Board, and in August of the same year work began 
on clearing and grading the lot. The Cahow and Parker Construction Company was given the contract for 
building the school, and construction work began in September. The building was completed in time for the 
winter term of the 1914-1915 school year.4

The school, which was originally called Alva Consolidated Junior High, provided classes for all Alva's 
school age children from grades 1 through 10. In June 1915 it became an intermediate high school when an 
eleventh grade class was added. The most substantial building in the community, the school became a center for 
entertainment and other community activities.

By the mid-1920s the school had become overcrowded, forcing the conversion of the auditorium into 
classroom spaces. In 1926 local residents asked the LBPI's permission to raise funds through another bond issue 
for the erection of a separate high school. 5 Architect W.O. Sparklin was hired by the LBPI to draw plans for the 
new high school. As required by the LBPI in the 1920s, Sparklin's design for the school was drawn from the 
Mediterranean Revival style. The contractor for the school was C. Franklin Wheeler. The site chosen for the 
new school was land located immediately east of the existing 1914 school Construction on the building began in 
April 1927 and was completed in August of the same year, at a cost of about $35,000.6

The two schools served as the only educational facilities for Alva's children until 1972, when nearby 
Riverdale High School was completed. At that time, the 1927 building was converted to a middle school. In

Department of Printing, The School Board of Lee County, 1987) 18,47, 54, 85.
3Lee County School Board, Minutes, September 9, November 4, and December 11,1913.
4Fort Mvers Weekly Press. January 15, 1914; Lee County School Board, Minutes, January 9, April 17, August 4, and 

September 1,1914; Stone and Carter, The First 100 Years. 122.
5Stone and Carter, The First 100 Years. 122; Fort Mvers Press. September 11,1926.
6Lee County School Board, Minutes, April 7, August 10, and November 10,1927; Fort Mvers Press. April 8,1927.
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1974 new elementary and middle school classroom buildings were constructed behind the original buildings, 
which were converted to serve as administrative offices and special education facilities for the campus.7

Historical Significance: Education

The Alva Schools are eligible for listing the National Register of Historic Places under Criterion A in the 
area of education. The schools were constructed as part of a concerted effort by the state of Florida and the Lee 
County Board of Public Instruction to provide modern and safe primary and secondary educational facilities for 
school age children. The physical characteristics of the buildings also reflect progress in the choice and 
presentation of educational curricula.

Prior to 1869, the state of Florida had no statewide standards for public schools. Even legislation 
adopted in that year stated only that public school buildings should be "light and airy."8 There were no clearly 
defined standards for the training of teachers, or courses of study for elementary education, and no provision of 
any kind for secondary or higher education. Emphasis was placed mainly on the teaching of reading, spelling,' 
and simple arithmetic. The responsibility of establishing and administering public schools was vested in the 
counties, but little was done to assure that county school boards had sufficient funds for the construction of 
schools or for staffing them with competent teachers. The question of curricula was left entirely up to the local 
school boards.

The revised state constitution of 1885 attempted to comprehensively address the problem of public 
education in Florida. It called for a uniform system of public free schools9 and established the goal of 
maintaining them. 10 A state school fund was set up that would be exclusively applied to the support and 
maintenance of public schools. State law also provided for the division of the counties into school districts and 
for the election of trustees to supervise the districts. 11 By 1889, the law was changed to provide for allowing 
county boards of instruction to levy taxes locally for the purpose of constructing educational facilities in their 
school districts.

Still, little progress had been made by the end of the century in the areas of standards for physical school 
plants, the preparation of teachers, or established curricula. No action was taken by the legislature on the issue

7 Stone and Carter, The First 100 Years. 213; The School District of Lee County, Florida, Facilities Department, "List of 
Construction Projects," n.d.

8Thomas Everette Cochran, History of Public-School Education in Florida. Tallahassee: The New Era Printing Company, 
Inc., 1921) 41.

9 For white children of school age.
10 ibid., 79.
11 ibid., 80-81.
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1O ^_

of compulsory school attendance until 1915. The standards for curricula began to improve about the same 
time. While continuing to emphasize spelling and the three R's, more substantial subjects were beginning to be 
taught, including geography, English grammar and composition, United States and Florida history, physiology, 
and hygiene.

By 1919, the office of the State Superintendent of School began to recommend that instruction also 
should be given—starting in the elementary grades—in music, drawing, world history, general science, manual 
training and domestic arts and sciences. 13 The goal of extending primary and secondary education to as many 
school age children as possible required a major reorganization of the school system at the county level. This 
largely involved the consolidation of rural schools and the transportation of students to better, centralized school 
plants, plus the securing of a core of competent teachers. 14 The curricula for secondary schools was being 
constantly upgraded during the 1920s and began to include such subjects as algebra, geography, trigonometry, 
physics, chemistry, English literature, Latin, manual arts, and household economics. 15

The consolidation of schools within districts and changes in curricula necessarily required changes in 
school design. Schools needed to be better lighted, heated, and ventilated. They had to be provided with a 
reliable supply of potable water and sanitary toilets. School staff included not only teachers but also a school 
principal, a secretary, and a practical nurse to care for students' elementary health. The teaching of a variety of 
subjects extending from the beginning of elementary school through high school required the construction of 
larger school plants, with separate classrooms for each grade, and spaces for special instruction. The expanded 
curricula necessitated the inclusion of libraries to hold books on a wide variety of subjects and to serve as a 
student study area. Auditoriums were necessary for the assembly of school staff and students for a wide variety 
of purposes, including lectures by visiting educators, speeches by well-known personages, and entertainment 
events performed by the students, such as band concerts and amateur dramatics. The schools erected in Alva and 
the rest of Lee County during the 1910s and 1920s embodied—through their design—the most current statewide 
and national views on providing educational opportunities for school age children.

ARCHITECTURAL SIGNIFICANCE

The buildings have additional significance under Criterion C as examples of the use of contemporary 
architectural concepts in educational facility design. Designed to house a relatively small number of students, the 
first school featured six classrooms, indoor plumbing, a library, and an auditorium. It was the first masonry

12 ibid., 114. 
13 Cochran,119.
14 ibid., 122.
15 ibid., 125.
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school constructed in the county outside of Fort Myers. The 1927 school has further significance under Criterion 
C as an excellent local example of the use of the Mediterranean Revival style in the design of a school. The style 
is expressed in its stepped parapet, ceramic tile appliques. The building is the only example of the Mediterranean 
Revival style architecture in Alva.
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Verbal Boundary Description

The school property consists of a parcel of land in the Town of Alva, Section 22, Township 43 S, Range 27E, as 
described in the Lee County Official Record Book 1089, page 388. The National Register boundaries are 
confined to that parcel of the property encompassed by the boundary lines shown on the map enclosed with this 
nomination proposal

Boundary Justification

The boundaries were drawn to encompass only the two historic schools and that portion of land approximately 
halfway between the historic properties and their neighboring non-historic buildings.
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LIST OF PHOTOGRAPHS

1. Alva Consolidated Schools, 21219 North River Road
2. Alva (Lee County), Florida
3. Stephen Olausen
4. November 1996
5. Historic Property Associates
6. View of Schools from North River Road near Church Street, Looking Northeast
7. Photo 1 of 24

Numbers 2-5 are the same for the remaining photographs.

1. First Alva Junior High School and First Alva High School
6. View of Schools from North River Road, Looking Northwest
7. Photo 2 of 24

1. First Alva Junior High School
6. Main (South) Facade, Looking Northeast
7. Photo 3 of 24

1. First Alva Junior High School
6. West Elevation, Looking East
7. Photo 4 of 24

1. First Alva Junior High School
6. East Elevations, Looking Southwest
7. Photo 5 of 24

1. First Alva Junior High School
6. North (Rear) Elevation, Looking Southeast
7. Photo 6 of 24

1. First Alva Junior High School
6. Interior, First Floor Hall, Looking North
7. Photo 7 of 24
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1. First Alva Junior High School
6. Interior, First Floor Office, Looking Northwest
7. Photo 8 of 24

1. First Alva Junior High School
6. Interior, Classroom, Looking Southeast
7. Photo 9 of 24

1. First Alva Junior High School
6. Interior, Classroom, Looking Southeast
7. Photo 10 of 24

1. First Alva Junior High School
6. Interior, Stairwell, Looking North
7. Photo 11, of 24

1. First Alva Junior High School
6. Interior, Second Floor Landing, Looking Southwest
7. Photo 12 of 24

1. First Alva Junior High School
6. Interior, Second Floor Classroom, Looking Northwest
7. Photo 13 of 24

1. First Alva High School
6. South (Main) Facade, Looking Northwest
7. Photo 14 of 24

1. First Alva High School
6. Main (South) Facade, Looking North
7. Photo 15 of 24

1. First Alva High School
6. West Elevation, Looking Southeast
7. Photo 16 of 24
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1. First Alva High School
6. West Elevation of Auditorium and Band Room Addition, Looking Northeast
7. Photo 17 of 24

1. First Alva High School
6. North (Rear) Elevation of Band Room Addition, Looking Southwest
7. Photo 18 of 24

1. First Alva High School
6. East Elevation, Looking Southwest
7. Photo 19 of 24

1. First Alva High School
6. East Elevation with Stairwell Addition, Looking West
7. Photo 20 of 24

1. First Alva High School
6. Interior, First Lobby and Reception Area, Looking Southwest
7. Photo 21 of 24

1. First Alva High School
6. Interior, First Floor East Hallway, Looking North
7. Photo 22 of 24

1. First Alva High School
6. Interior, Auditorium, Looking North
7. Photo 23 of 24

1. First Alva High School
6. Interior, Second Floor Stairwell, Looking West
7. Photo 24 of 24
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